I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The Circuit Court erred by rewriting the written Agreement between Petitioner, 

Antero Resources Corporation, and Respondent, Mike Ross, Inc., and holding that Mike Ross, 

Inc., was only required to pay Antero Resources Corporation $2,914,943.75 of the $6,914,943.75 

in royalty payments it received from Antero Resources Corporation, and without interest, despite 

the clear terms of the parties' Agreement to the contrary. 

2. The Circuit Court erred by awarding a windfall or double recovery to the 

Respondents, L&D Investments, Inc., et al., by effectively awarding them a total of $11,000,000.00 

when only $7,000,000.00 was due, which was comprised of $5,621,285.25 in unpaid royalties and 

$1,378,714.75 in interest. 

Il. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Petitioner, Antero Resources Corporation ("Antero") brings this appeal challenging 

the Circuit Court's ruling on its cross-claim against the Respondent, Mike Ross, Inc. ("MRI"), 

wherein the Circuit Court ordered that MRI was only required to pay Antero $2,914,943.75 of the 

$6,914,943.75 in royalties Antero paid MRI, without interest, which is in direct contravention of 

the Parties' indemnity agreement ("Agreement"). Plainly, the Circuit Court rewrote the terms of 

the Parties' Agreement, which unambiguously required MRI to "reimburse Antero in full for any 

amount of royalties paid in excess of what [MRI] may actually own along with the full amount of 

interest due or accrued on the overpayments in the event that L&D Investments, Inc., or any other 

party, is deemed to own an interest in the subject minerals ... ,n 

1 App.2459. 
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As discussed herein, this Court ultimately determined that MRI in fact did not have any 

interest in the subject minerals; thus, the plain terms of the Agreement require MRI to repay 

Antero for any royalties MRI received from Antero, plus interest. Antero also challenges the 

Circuit Court's award of summary judgment to the Respondents, L&D Investments, Inc., et al., 

("L&D"), because it resulted in a double recovery or windfall to L&D. 

L&D initiated this action by filing a complaint on December 10, 2013, contending that it, 

not MRI, was the proper recipient of royalty payments under the Subject Lease arising from a 

dispute over the validity of a tax deed. 2 As a result of the lawsuit, Antero prudently suspended 

MRl's royalty payments for production from the Subject Lease.3 Thereafter, at MRl's request, 

Antero and MRI entered into the Agreement whereby Antero resumed royalty payments to MRI 

in exchange for MRl's agreement to indemnify Antero, in full, for any overpayment of royalties, 

plus interest.4 Antero ultimately paid MRI $6,914,943.75 in royalties from the Subject Lease. 

On May 22, 2018, this Court held that "the tax deed issued to MRI [was] void and the 

statute of limitation [was] inapplicable" and remanded the case to the Circuit Court consistent 

with the determinations and directives provided therein. 5 After the Circuit Court entered an order 

declaring the tax deed "VOID AB INITIO as a matter oflaw, " 6 and after MRI' s Offer of] udgment 

was accepted by L&D,7 Antero amended its cross-claim setting forth its claim for contractual 

2 App. 51. 

3 App. 1593, 1681, 1892, 1895, 1896. 

4 App. 2657-2661. 

5 L&D Investments., Inc. v. Mike Ross., Inc., 241 W. Va. 46, 49, 818 S.E.2d 872, 875 (2018). 

6 App. 2171. 

7 App.2266. 
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indemnity under the Agreement, and demanding judgment against MRI for all amounts paid to 

MRI, including interest. 8 Antero had agreed to pay royalties during the pendency of litigation to 

MRI with a promise by MRI to reimburse Antero for those payments, including interest, and it was 

now demanding enforcement of that Agreement. 

On December 9, 2019, Antero entered into a settlement agreement with L&D.9 As part of 

the settlement, Antero agreed to pay L&D a total of $7,000,000.00, which represented 

$5,621,285.25 owed to L&D in royalties and $1,378,714.75 in interest.10 Antero paid 

$3,000,000.00 to L&D immediately and deposited $4,000,000.00 into an escrow account, which 

represented the amount paid to L&D by MRI via its Offer of Judgment. The escrow was 

established because the parties (Antero, MRI, and L&D) disputed the impact of MRl's Offer of 

Judgment and the parties agreed to submit such issues to the Circuit Court.11 

The agreements among the parties can best be summarized as follows: 

• Antero and MRI agreed that Antero would pay royalties to MRI during the 
pendency of the litigation, but MRI would make Antero whole if MRI did 
not ultimately prevail vis-a-vis L&D 

• Antero paid $6,914,943.75 to MRI in royalty payments during the pendency 
of the litigation 

• MRI made a $4,000,000.00 Offer of Judgment to L&D, which L&D 
accepted 

8 App. 2278. 

9 App. 2373. 

10 App. 2964 (" Antero will pay Plaintiffs the sum of $5,621,285.25 representing the current estimate 
of their royalty due through July 21, 2019, pursuant to the fractional ownership percentages set forth in the 
Stipulation of Ownership, attached hereto. Royalties accruing after July 2019, will be paid within 30 days or 
when they would be paid in Antero's ordinary course of business, and future royalties will likewise be paid 
in Antero's ordinary course of business. Antero will pay Plaintiffs an additional $1,378,714.75 representing 
interest accrued for the foregoing unpaid royalties."). 

11 App. 2374. 
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• Antero's $7,000,000.00 settlement with L&D was comprised of 
$5,621,285.25 in unpaid royalties and $1,378,714.75 in interest12 

• Antero and L&D then agreed that Antero would pay $3,000,000.00 to L&D 
of the approximately $7 million in dispute (for which Antero could seek 
indemnification per its Agreement with MRI) and Antero would deposit 
the remaining $4,000,000.00 into an escrow account (for which Antero 
would either get indemnification from MRI or credit against its 
$7,000,000.00 settlement with L&D) 

On June 5, 2020, Antero13 and MRI14 filed cross-motions for summary judgment on 

Antero's cross-claim. On July 8, 2020, Antero,15 MRI,16 and L&D17 filed responses to the cross­

motions for summary judgment. Also, on the same day, L&D also filed a motion for summary 

judgment against Antero regarding offset and contribution.18 On July 22, 2020, Antero19 and MRI 

filed replies. 20 

On September 15, 2020, the Circuit Court entered its "Omnibus Ruling Order," wherein 

it awarded judgment inAntero's favor, in part, on its amended cross-claim against MRI as molded 

therein and granted L&D's motion for summary judgment against Antero regarding post-

12 App. 2964 (" Antero will pay Plaintiffs the sum of $5,621,285.25 representing the current estimate 
of their royalty due through July 21, 2019, pursuant to the fractional ownership percentages set forth in the 
Stipulation of Ownership, attached hereto. Royalties accruing after July 2019, will be paid within 30 days or 
when they would be paid in Antero 's ordinary course of business, and future royalties will likewise be paid 
in Antero 's ordinary course of business. Antero will pay Plaintiffs an additional $1,378,714.75 representing 
interest accrued for the foregoing unpaid royalties."). 

13 App. 2642. 
14 App. 2851. 
15 App. 2897. 
16 App. 2943. 
17 App. 2934. 
18 App. 2938. 
19 App. 3004. 
20 App. 3026. 
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settlement set-off or contribution. 21, The Circuit Court entered a final judgment as to these issues 

on November 2, 2020,22 from which Antero filed a timely notice of appeal.23 

That judgment has effectively awarded L&D a total of $11,000,000.00 on what should have 

been net settlements of $7,000,000.00, resulting in a windfall to L&D of $4,000,000.00. Antero 

respectfully submits that this Court should either direct that Antero receive a refund of the 

$4,000,000.00 it paid into escrow, at which point MRI would owe Antero $2.914,943.75, plus 

interest or, in the alternative, MRI should not receive a credit for that amount but should have 

judgment entered against it in favor of Antero in the amount of $6,914,943.75, plus interest. 

ill. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court erred by rewriting the terms of the Antero/MRI Agreement and holding 

that MRI was obligated to Antero for only $2,914,943.75 of the $6,914,943.75 in royalty payments 

Antero paid to MRI. The Circuit Court compounded this error by awarding a windfall or double 

recovery to the L&D by effectively awarding it a total of $11,000,000.00 when only $7,000,000.00 

was due, which was comprised of $5,621,285.25 in unpaid royalties and $1,378,714.75 in interest. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

R. App. P. 19 argument is appropriate in this case where MRI is contractually obligated to 

reimburse Antero for the full $6,914,943.75 in royalty payments, including interest, for which MRI 

received from Antero but was not entitled. 

21 App. 3083. 

22 App. 3159. 

23 App. 3170. 
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V.ARGUMENT 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

As this is an appeal from summary judgment rulings, the standard of review is de nova24 and 

applying that standard, Antero is entitled to a decision remanding for entry of judgment in Antero' s 

favor, for the $6,914,943.75 it paid to MRI, and for an award of interest. 

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY REWRITING THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
PETITIONER, ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION, AND RESPONDENT, MIKE Ross, 

INC., AND HOLDING THAT MIKE Ross, INC. WAS ONLY REQUIRED TO PAY ANTERO 
RESOURCES CORPORATION $2,914,943.75 OF THE $6,914,943.75 IN ROYALTY 
PAYMENTS IT RECEIVED FROM ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION, AND WITHOUT 
INTEREST, DESPITE THE CLEAR TERMS OF THE PARTIES' AGREEMENT TO THE 
CONTRARY. 

As noted, after the filing of suit in this matter and at the request of MRI, Antero agreed to 

resume making royalty payments to MRI in exchange for MRI' s agreement to indemnify Antero, 

in full, for any overpayment of royalties, plus interest. Specifically, the Agreement provides: 

Antero agrees to resume payments to Mike Ross, Inc. pending resolution of the 
ownership dispute that is the subject of the Civil Action. In consideration of 
Antero's promise to resume payments to Mike Ross, Inc., Mike Ross, Inc. agrees 
to reimburse Antero in full for any amount of royalties paid in excess of what Mike 
Ross, Inc. may actually own along with the full amount of interest due or accrued 
on the overpayments in the event that L&D Investments, Inc., or any other party, 
is deemed to own an interest in the subject minerals for which Mike Ross, Inc. now 
claims.25 

In other words, MRI decided to contractually obligate itself to reimburse Antero if MRI 

was determined not to own an interest in the Subject Lease, which is what ultimately transpired. 

24 Syl. pt. I, Painterv. Pea'J)_J, 192 W. Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). 

25 App. 2459. 
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Eventually, Antero paid MRI a total of $6,914,943.75 in royalties for production from the Subject 

Lease.26 

After the Circuit Court entered its Order effectuating this Court's decision in L&D 

Investments., Inc. v. Mike Ross., Inc., ruling against MRI,27 and after MRI's Offer of Judgment was 

accepted by L&D,28 Antero amended its cross-claim setting forth its claim for contractual 

indemnity under the Agreement, and demanding judgment against MRI for all amounts paid to 

MRI, including interest. The relevant provisions of this cross-claim are as follows: 

2. On November 8, 2019, Plaintiffs and Mike Ross, Inc. announced to the 
Court Plaintiffs' Acceptance of Rule 68 Offer of Judgment by Defendant Mike 
Ross, Inc., in the amount of $4,000,000.00 ("Judgment"). 

3. Antero and Mike Ross, Inc. are parties to an "Agreement" dated July 14, 
2014, attached hereto as "Exhibit No. 1." 

4. The Agreement provides that "Mike Ross, Inc. agrees to reimburse Antero 
in full for any amount of royalties paid in excess of what Mike Ross, Inc. may 
actually own along with the full amount of interest due or accrued on the 
overpayments in the event that L&D Investments, Inc., or any other party, is 
deemed to own an interest in the subject minerals for which Mike Ross, Inc. now 
claims." 

5. Antero demands judgment against Mike Ross, Inc. pursuant to the terms of 
the Agreement for all amounts paid to Mike Ross, Inc., including interest, and 
further for any and all damages and interest that may be awarded to Plaintiffs by the 
Court or jury to the extent the Judgment does not fully compensate Plaintiffs for all 
damages and interest allegedly due from Antero and fully extinguish any claims by 
Plaintiffs against Antero for royalties paid to Mike Ross, Inc. 29 

26 App. 2662. 

27 App. 2158. 

28 App. 2266. 

29 App. 2280-2281. 
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This Court has recognized that, "[i]n construing the language of an express indemnity 

contract, the ordinary rules of contract construction apply."30 As such, "[a] valid written 

instrument which expresses the intent of the parties in plain and unambiguous language is not 

subject to judicial construction or interpretation but will be applied and enforced according to such 

intent. " 31 This Court further has held that the language ofindemnity contracts should "clearly and 

definitely show an intention to indemnify against a certain loss or liability; otherwise it is not a 

contract of indemnity .... [T]he primary purpose is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of 

the parties. " 32 In addition, this Court has indicated that when considering the language of the 

indemnity provision, "facts and the surrounding circumstances,, should be included in the 

interpretation. 33 

In VanKirk, the Department of Highways ("DOH") entered into contracts with two 

separate construction companies, Green Construction Company ("Green") and Elmo Greer and 

Sons, Inc. ("Greer"), for the construction of different segments of Route 64.34 During the course 

of the construction, Greer incurred a variety of additional costs due to Green's failure to meet 

deadlines, which became the subject of the underlying claims before the court. 35 Greer sought 

judgment against the DOH and prevailed.36 The DOH then sought indemnification from Green 

30 Syl. pt. 4, VanKirk v. Green Const. Co., 195 W. Va. 714, 466 S.E.2d 782 (1995). 

31 Id. at Syl. pt. 5 (quoting Syl. pt. 1, Cotiga Dev. Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co., 147 W. Va. 484, 128 
S.E.2d 626 (1962)). 

32 Sellers v. Owens-lllinois Glass Co., 156 W. Va. 87, 92-93, 191 S.E.2d 166, 169 (1972). 

33 Id. 

34 VanKirk, supra at 716, 466 S.E.2d at 784. 

3s Id. 

36 Id. at 717, 466 S.E.2d at 785. 
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for amounts paid by the DOH to Greer. 37 The contract signed by Green included several indemnity 

provisions, including language that would "require[] Green to indemnify DOH against any claims 

or suits arising because of injuries or damage to any persons or property on account of the 

operations of the contractor [Green]." Further, Green signed a contract bond which included 

language that Green would "save harmless [DOH] from any expense incurred through the failure 

of said contractor [Green]. .. to complete the work as specified, and for any damages growing out 

of the carelessness or negligence of said contractor [Green] ... [ and] from all losses to it [DOH] . 

. . from any cause whatever ... in the manner of constructing said Road[.] " 38 This Court held that 

"the indemnity language in question to be sufficiently plain, unambiguous, and broad to cover the 

losses incurred by Greer. " 39 

In this litigation, MRI and Antero' s Agreement expressly provides that MRI will reimburse 

"Antero in full for any amount of royalties paid in excess of what Mike Ross, Inc. may actually 

own along with the full amount of interest due or accrued on the overpayments in the event 

that L&D Investments, Inc., or any other party, is deemed to own an interest in the subject 

minerals for which Mike Ross, Inc. now claims. " 40 

Here, like in VanKirk, the indemnity language is "sufficiently plain, unambiguous, and 

broad" and is irrespective of any claim against Antero. Therefore, utilizing ordinary rules of 

contract construction, the plain language of the Agreement requires MRI to reimburse Antero for 

311d. 

3s Id. 

39 Id. at 720, 466 S.E.2d at 788. 
40 App. at 2459 (Emphasis supplied). 
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the full amount of royalties paid, plus interest. For these reasons, the Circuit Court should have 

fully granted Antero' s motion for summary judgment. 

Instead, the Circuit Court ventured beyond the clear terms of the Agreement and 

improperly asserted itself into the perceived equities of the Agreement vis-a-vis L&D: 

29. Antero's [sic] asserts, inter alia, that "Antero is not seeking to profit; 
Antero is asking MRI to fulfill its promise to refund the royalties Antero paid it" 
while requesting that it be awarded a return of $4,000,000.00 (presently held in 
escrow) of the $7,000,000.00 paid Plaintiffs to settle all claims against it and with 
$2,914,943.75 to be paid Antero by MRI (if $4,000,000.00 return from Plaintiffs is 
allowed) or the full amount of purported royalties previously paid-out to MRI (i.e.; 
6,914,943.75 [sic]) along with over $2.5 million in purportedly accruing interest, as 
so generously calculated by Antero. (See Antero's Reply, p. 8 at 'If 1) (Underline 
emphasis added by this Court). 

30. This Court deems such assertion highly disingenuous on Antero' s part. 

31. MRI improperly benefited by having such proceeds to extend its cash flow 
for purchasing other income producing assets at no cost to itself during the 
pendency of this instant litigation which ultimately determined that it never had any 
legal royalty ownership interest in the Subject Property; and no legal right to any 
royalty proceeds. 

32. Antero's request that this Court now direct a full return to Antero of any 
royalty payment to MRI plus accruing interest thereon, upon its interpretation and 
application of the July 14, 2014 Agreement between Antero and MRI is deemed to 
misconstrue and misapply such Agreement. 

33. The presently developed record herein before this Court supports the 
notion that to otherwise grant Antero 's specifically requested relief would not only 
be an unjust enrichment to Antero but, this Court's implied approval for Antero's 
and MRl's self-absorbed actions in relation to the Subject Property at the heart of 
this litigation and, particularly, the contested royalty interests.41 

First, none of this has anything to do with the proper judicial interpretation of the 

Agreement. Again, MRI agreed to indemnify Antero if during the pendency of the litigation 

41 App. at 3105 (Emphasis supplied). 
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Antero paid MRI the disputed royalties. lfMRI lost its dispute with L&D, it would be required to 

pay over to Antero the amount of royalties improperly paid and any awardable interest. 

Second, the Circuit Court cites no "self-absorbed" exception to the law of contract, and 

Antero is unaware of any. Moreover, the Circuit Court does not explain, and Antero is unaware of 

any logical explanation of how the Agreement for Antero to pay royalties in any manner benefited 

Antero financially or otherwise. Certainly, the Circuit Court's non-contract law observation that, 

"Antero and MRI played 'fast and loose' by negotiating continued payment of any such royalty 

proceeds pending the outcome of this litigation, " 42 makes no sense. L&D could have moved that 

the disputed royalty payments be paid into Court from the beginning, but it did not. Indeed, L&D 

rejected Antero's offer at the commencement oflitigation to interplead the royalties into court.43 

And, again, the Circuit Court initially ruled in MRl's favor,44 which makes the Circuit Court's 

gratuitous comments45 even more inexplicable. 

42 App. 3106. 

43 App. 109 (" Antero has the lawful right to deposit the disputed funds into the Clerk of Court."); 
App. 140 ("Plaintiff does not believe that this is a true interpleader case under the law or the Rules of Civil 
Procedure as Defendant Antero is not a mere stakeholder."). 

44 Antero notes the following passage from the Circuit Court's decision: 

22. All payment of royalties from ongoing production from the Subject Property 
before, during and throughout this litigation not otherwise previously disbursed could have 
(and, in hindsight now with the Supreme Court's void ab initio determination, should 
have) been more appropriately interpleaded into this Court following remand and 
pending ultimate resolution in quieting title upon further motion pleadings by any or all of 
the Gas Producing Defendants ( as well as MRI as it conclusively had no legal right to retain 
any royalty payments received that had been erroneously distributed as. a result of its 
purported 2003 Tax Deed) in keeping with their respective pleadings post-remand and 
Plaintiffs' last Amended Complaint so as to assure proper accounting and distribution all 
thereof to the correct royalty owners in proper proportion to their respective interests. 

App. 3103 (Emphasis supplied). Somehow, Antero and MRI was supposed to have more "hindsight" than 
the Circuit Court. 

45 In addition to the ones just discussed, the Circuit Court further stated: 

11 



Indeed, before moving on with its actual contract law analysis, the Circuit Court stated, 

"Having thus critiqued, this Court finds and concludes, as a matter oflaw, that the July 14, 2014 

Agreement by and between Antero and MRI in its totality of mutually considered purposes for 

coming into existence and provisions therein made, is deemed a valid contract and free of 

ambiguity as to the particularly identified royalty payments. " 46 

Instead of awarding to Antero, however, the full $6,914,943.75 paid by Antero to MRI, the

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