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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT:

This Appeal is one of two Appeals emanating from the same Harrison County Civil Action involving all three of the Parties to these Appeals (Plaintiffs, Antero and MRI). Only Antero has lodged an appeal against Plaintiffs wherein Antero seeks reversal of the Trial Court's denying Antero's claim for contribution or setoff from Antero's voluntary settlement with Plaintiffs on the eve of Trial. Antero cavalierly asserts Plaintiffs received "double recovery" but Antero voluntarily settled all of its claims with Plaintiffs without availing itself to trial where the liability and damages could have been determined by a jury or the court. Nor did Antero provide any factual basis or persuasive law to the Trial Court that would entitle Antero to voluntarily settle all its claims and still seek contribution or setoff even though Antero's claims were separate and distinct from those asserted against MRI, which Antero has not contested. Additionally Antero and Plaintiffs agreed to permit the Trial Court to conclusively decide all factual and legal issues regarding Antero's claim to contribution and setoff. With no basis to maintain this appeal, Plaintiffs assert that Antero's appeal against Plaintiffs is frivolous and should be summarily denied.

Also, because Antero did not provide any factual or legal basis in its Brief to support its appeal, Plaintiffs reserve the right to file a sur-response with this Court pursuant its Rules of Appellate Procedure 10(h) and (i) should Antero's Reply Brief include "new" or additional facts or law.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION:

The Plaintiffs believe that the issues raised by Antero against Plaintiffs are without any legal or factual bases, and therefore, a Memorandum decision pursuant to Rules of Appellate Procedure 21(d) would be appropriate as the Trial Court was correct in denying Antero's Motion seeking contribution or setoff from Plaintiffs. However, Plaintiffs are comfortable agreeing to Rule 19 Argument as requested by both Antero and MRI.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW:

Antero's assertion in its Brief that the Standard of Review by this Court regarding the Trial Court's granting of summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs is *de novo*, and ordinarily such would be correct. This Court's general review of a challenge to the lower court's summary judgment order is usually *de novo* and if there were any material disputed facts such precludes summary judgment. However in this matter, as it regards Antero's claims of contribution or setoff from Plaintiffs after Antero voluntarily settled with Plaintiffs, "both legal and factual" issues were agreed by the Parties in their Settlement Agreement to be conclusively resolved by the Circuit Court Judge, the Honorable Thomas A. Bedell.¹⁷ The Trial Court did just that and Antero lost.

Accordingly, any disputed material issues of fact, which there were none, or application of law to those facts necessarily considered and resolved by the Trial Court in ruling on Antero's and Plaintiffs' cross motions for Summary Judgment, are final and this Court should enforce the Agreement of the Parties. Accordingly, Antero's request for "offset or reduction" of Antero's \$7 million dollar lump sum settlement payment was conclusively decided by the Trial Court as set forth in the Settlement Agreement. Thus, the Trial Court was empowered by Antero and Plaintiffs, to resolve any disputed material fact issues and questions of law and the Trial Court was correct in granting Plaintiffs's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Antero's claim for setoff or contribution including the Trial Court's findings that Plaintiffs did not receive a "double recovery." 18

¹⁷ Paragraph 2 of the "Settlement Agreement and Release of All Claims" states: "Any claims by Antero or MRI to offset or reduce the amounts in Section 1, above, by Plaintiff's' acceptance of Mike Ross, Inc.'s \$4,000,000.00 Offer of Judgment will he preserved by all Parties, as will Plaintiffs' right to contest such offset or reduction. If the issues need to be resolved among Antero, MRI and/or Plaintiffs, then Antero and Plaintiffs agree to submit such issues to Judge Bedell for resolution of both legal and factual issues, if any,..." (emphasis added); [APP 2373-74] (These Appendix pages were for some reason not numbered by Antero but are in numerical sequence.)

¹⁸ The Trial Court's decision was also correct under the *de novo* standard of review.

V. ARGUMENT:

Plaintiffs do not belong in this Appeal between Antero and MRI, as Antero has no legal or factual basis to seek any contribution and/or setoff from Plaintiffs once Antero voluntarily settled with Plaintiffs for all claims asserted against it without any determination of liability and damages among the various Defendants, especially when there were multiple causes of action asserted separately against such Defendants. [Br. p. 10-12, *supra*.] For instance, Antero had a contractual duty to pay the Plaintiffs and the other owners of the Andrews Tract their royalties produced from their mineral property. Antero had a duty to pay them independent from MRI which had no contractual duty to Plaintiffs and other owners of the Andrews Tract. This separate and distinct cause of action alone could have resulted in a jury or Trial Court ¹⁹ verdict against Antero upwards of \$20 million dollars. [APP 2928 FN 1]. This would not include the tort claims damages asserted against Antero for intentional and malicious conversion, trespass and misappropriation of Plaintiffs' royalties, which claims were also separate and distinct from those claims asserted against MRI.²⁰ Antero's assertions are mere "paper Tigers" as Antero provides not one scintilla of support for its claim of setoff, contribution or credit and the Trial Court appropriately ruled so in its post settlement Omnibus Order. [Br. p. 10-12, *supra*.].

Antero also conveniently ignores that it had every opportunity to put its assertions before the

The issue lies in equity so the Trial Court could have made the factual determination regarding damages with the assistance of an advisory jury. <u>Drake</u>, *supra*, at 305, "The question in this case [who and how much royalties to be paid] is ultimately one of equity."

²⁰ The claims asserted by Plaintiffs against MRI included slander of title, constitutional torts for unlawful taking of Plaintiffs mineral property and intentional and malicious tortious conduct any of which could have resulted in an award of punitive damages as well as compensatory damages including attorneys fees and costs; such verdicts would not have resulted in double recovery regardless of the amounts as Antero banters about, but does so without any factual support; the separate and distinct claims alleged against Antero and MRI would have resulted in separate awards for individualized conduct; moreover, any award of punitive damages is always individually assessed and not subject to any claim of contribution or setoff as it is not a "double recovery"; <u>Burgess v. Porterfield</u>, 196 WV 178, 469 S.E. 2d 114 (1996)[double recovery rule not applicable as punitive damages are not compensation but punishment to the wrongdoer to whom they are assessed.]

court or jury and obtain a determination of its separate liability and damages. Antero chose not to do so as it was fearful of the outcome and as has been noted many times, juries are unpredictable and such unpredictableness is why cases settle. Antero cannot have its "cake and eat it too." Antero had a choice and chose not to risk trial but it wanted the Trial Court to speculate as to both Antero and MRI's liability and damages to satisfy Antero's request for contribution and setoff. The Trial Court correctly said "no." Antero sought a "free shot" to have the Trial Court decide that the fact finder would have determined that the only viable claim against Antero would be Antero's contractual duty to pay Plaintiffs their royalties in the amount Antero proffered and presumably the amount of interest due. Such argument is absurd as Antero waived this avenue when it settled with the Plaintiffs. The Trial Court easily understood that such request was without factual or legal underpinnings. "Antero chose to settle with Plaintiffs rather than go to trial and, by doing so, it knowingly did not advance litigation herein to jury trial which would have determined what, if any, Plaintiffs' causes of action against it were proven and the amount of damages each thereon" [APP 3095]. Of course, the Trial Court was totally correct and its factual and legal findings in this regard was binding on Antero pursuant to the Settlement Agreement. [APP 2373-74]; see also Standard of Review, supra.

Once a party settles and forgoes a trial to have determined the alleged facts and damages there is no right to seek contribution and/or setoff as such relief has been waived. Antero's Appeal is solely against MRI based on their contractual indemnity agreement. Antero only has an appealable issue with MRI. Because Antero globally settled with Plaintiffs and obtained a full release of all claims asserted by Plaintiffs, there is no avenue for the application of contribution and/or setoff principles because there is no way to ascertain the percentages of culpability, whether Antero acted with deliberate and intentional conduct done with reckless indifference regarding Plaintiffs' mineral

rights, committed conversion, unjust enrichment²¹ and trespass. [APP 1558 at ¶6 & 7]. Also, there has been no determination of the amount of damages caused by Antero, including Plaintiffs' entitlement to punitive damages. Such findings are essential to the application of contribution and/or setoff principles and Antero has provided no statutory or case law support for their position in this Appeal that a party can seek contribution and/or setoff after a voluntary settlement of all claims including those claims seeking punitive damages. [Antero Brief p. 18-22]. Antero asserted these tort claims were not valid against Antero due to Antero being "an unbiased stakeholder" but the Trial Court denied Antero's request for Summary Judgment on these very issues due to serious factual disputes needing resolution by Trial. [APP 2214-17]. Antero was well aware that it would face a jury and the application of equity as to its conduct so Antero "bailed out" and voluntarily settled all of its claims without any conditions or findings as to liability or damages. [APP 2373]. Unfortunately for Antero, but fortunately for Plaintiffs, Antero cannot now make up its own facts. However, its Brief to this Court tries in earnest to do so which is troubling.

For instance, Antero's Brief, quite unbelievably, states as fact that the calculation in its Argument C regarding Antero's settlement with Plaintiffs was "comprised of \$5,621,285.25 in unpaid royalties and \$1,378,714.75 in interest" suggesting that such monetary breakdown was by mutual agreement of the Parties as part of the settlement. It was not, and to infer that such was agreed is grossly inaccurate. It is "made up" and should not be stated to this Court as a fact. What occurred was *Plaintiffs agreed to accept the lump sum of \$7 million dollars* as full settlement on behalf of Antero to resolve "any and all claims". Antero then sent an email stating "Yes, Antero

²¹ The unjust enrichment stems from the profits Antero received from the sales of Plaintiffs' gas, which Antero sold for well over \$100 million dollars while the Plaintiffs received none of their royalties for more than 17 years due to Antero's "playing fast and loose" by deliberately ignoring the warning in their two Title Exams and by joining with MRI to continue diverting Plaintiffs royalties for the duration of the litigation, and finally trying to seek setoff, contribution or credit of their voluntary settlement; perhaps the Trial Judge said it best: "To such end, as this litigation has demonstrated, innocent mineral and/or royalty owners appear at risk of being marginalized, forgotten, or even surreptitiously victimized in the pursuit of such profit." (emphasis added) [APP 3085].

agrees to the \$7M (Antero calculates as royalties of \$5,621,285.25; interest of \$1,378,714.75)." (emphasis added) [APP 2384].²² However, there was never any agreement that the settlement was solely based on the amount of royalties and interest as "calculated" by Antero because Plaintiffs would not have settled on such terms and no such terms are found in the Settlement Agreement. If Antero had insisted that such language be in the Settlement Agreement, Plaintiffs would have proceeded to trial regarding Antero's "trespass, conversion, and unjust enrichment" including punitive damages, all of which the Trial Court refused to grant summary judgment as requested by Antero prior to Trial. [APP 2217].

Antero repeatedly quoted portions of the Steptoe & Johnson's November 15, 2019, letter in its Brief without advising this Court that such letter was prepared after the settlement with Plaintiffs was confirmed, and was not part of the Settlement Agreement. However, Antero continuously repeated it as though repetition makes it true. It was not. Such statements are inaccurate and when stated without explaining there context, become grossly misleading. Such is inappropriate and not fair to this Court or the Plaintiffs. Antero stated in its Brief no less than five times that the settlement between Plaintiffs and Antero was "comprised of \$5,621,285.25 in unpaid royalties and \$1,378,714.75 in interest." [Antero Br. p. 1, 3, 4, 5 & 18]. Such is "made up." Antero's "fast and loose" "gamesmanship" by including misleading quotes in its Brief to this Court is an effort to factually support its assertions that were rejected by the Trial Court and the Trial Court was the final arbiter of the contribution or set off issue. Antero has gone so far as to give the Parties Settlement

²² It's beyond cavil that Antero makes such assertion in its Brief as the so called "interest" part of Antero's asserted settlement appears only twice in the 4210 pages of Antero's Appendix; at 2384 and 2964, which are the emails attached as Exhibit 1 to the "Settlement Agreement and Release of All Claims" and in S&J's letter after the settlement was confirmed [APP 2964]; that is why the Settlement Agreement does not contain either the \$5,621,285.25 or the \$1,378,714.75 amounts nor does it limit the settlement to any cause of action or type of damages; perhaps Antero has forgotten the rule regarding interpretation of contracts that only what is specifically contained in the document is germane especially when the document limits it to what is "expressly set forth in this Agreement." [APP 2375]; see also Plaintiffs' Br. p. 19-22, *infra*.

document a new, but "made up", name. The Settlement document signed by Plaintiffs and Antero was titled, "Settlement Agreement and Release of All Claims." [APP 2373]. Antero in its "Joint Appendix-Amended Table of Contents, Part III, second unnumbered page, filed with this Court on March 8, 2021", named the document, "Final and Executed Royalty Settlement Agreement." A mere negligent error or a deliberate attempt to improperly mischaracterize the actual Record in this Appeal? There was no document titled "Final and Executed Royalty Settlement Agreement" between Antero and Plaintiffs but only a "Settlement Agreement and Release of All Claims" [APP 2373]. The Settlement Agreement states:

"...Plaintiff's do hereby fully release, acquit, and forever discharge Antero...of and from any and all claims, liabilities, demands, controversies, damages, and causes of action, of every kind and character whatsoever, including but not limited to claims for payment of royalties, payment of interest, loss of value, waste, conversion, trespass, accounting, breach of contract, annoyance and inconvenience, attorney fees or other expenses, punitive damages, and interest, and all other related costs and any other direct or consequential losses of any nature whatsoever, that in any way arises out of or relates to the Present Litigation and the Andrews Lease." (emphasis added); Id.

If the Settlement Agreement only released unpaid royalty payments owed to Plaintiffs it would have so stated in the document but it did not. Antero repeatedly quotes in its Brief the letter from Steptoe & Johnson instead of the actual Settlement Agreement between the Parties. [Antero Br. pgs. 3-4]. Such is a ploy to convince this Court of something that is not true. Antero sparsely quoted the actual "Settlement Agreement and Release of All Claims" [APP 2373] which did not describe the amount of royalties and interest owed by or paid by Antero. *Id.* Antero only quoted the full title of the "Settlement Agreement and Release of All Claims" once on page 12 of its Brief and that was a quote from the Trial Court's post settlement Omnibus Order. Antero only decided after

²³ For some reason Antero failed to number the "Settlement Agreement and Release of All Claims" in its Appendix but the sequence would make its first page at 2373 and last 2388.

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